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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 The federal district courts have original jurisdiction over civil actions arising under laws 

of the United States.  28 U.S.C. § 1331 (2012).  Because this action was brought under the 

federal Clean Water Act (CWA), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq, the United States District Court for 

the District of New Union had proper subject mater jurisdiction over the case.  The United States 

courts of appeals have jurisdiction over appeals from final orders of the district courts.  28 U.S.C. 

§ 1291 (2012).  Because both the New Union Department of Environmental Protection (NUDEP) 

and the New Union Wildlife Federation (NUWF) timely appealed the district court’s final order, 

the United States Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has jurisdiction to hear the appeals.  

Venue is proper because the alleged violation occurred in the District of New Union, located 

within the Twelfth Circuit.   

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I.       Whether NUWF has standing to sue Bowman for violating the CWA, when NUWF 
members suffered injury as a result of Bowman’s actions, and it is likely that the injury 
will be properly redressed by a favorable court decision. 

 
II.     Whether Bowman’s is currently “in violation” as required under the citizen suit provision 

of the CWA, when all violations ceased before NUWF filed its complaint and there is no 
reasonable likelihood that Bowman will violate the CWA in the future. 

 
III.    Whether NUWF’s citizen suit is barred, when NUDEP is diligently prosecuting Bowman 

to bring him into full compliance with the CWA by requiring wetland restoration and 
maintenance at his own expense. 

 
IV.    Whether Bowman violated the CWA, when his ditching and land-clearing operations 

transformed the thriving wetland parcel into an agricultural lot. 
 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal from a final order of the district court granting Bowman’s motion for 

summary judgment and denying NUWF’s motion for summary judgment.  (R. at 11.)  NUWF 

filed an action against Bowman under section 505 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (2012), for 
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filling wetlands without a permit in violation of sections 301(a) and 404 of the CWA.  Id. §§ 

1311(a), 1344 (2012); (R. at 3.)  Having already commenced its own section 505 action against 

Bowman in the district court, NUDEP intervened.  (R. at 3.)   

 After discovery, NUWF and NUDEP filed cross motions for summary judgment.  (R. at 

3.)  The district court found:  that NUWF lacked standing; that the court lacked subject matter 

jurisdiction because all violations were wholly past; that the court lacked subject matter 

jurisdiction due to prior state action; and that Bowman did not violate the CWA.  (R. at 11.)    

 NUWF and NUDEP each filed a timely Notice of Appeal.  (R. at 1.)  NUWF appealed all 

four holdings.  (R. at 1.)  NUDEP challenged the holdings that NUWF lacked standing and that 

Bowman did not violate the CWA.  (R. at 1.)  On September 14, 2012, this Court granted review.  

(R. at 2.) 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 Defendant-appellee Jim Bob Bowman (Bowman) failed to secure a section 404 permit for 

ditching and land-clearing activities on his wetland parcel.  Both NUWF and NUDEP seek to 

enforce the CWA against Bowman for his illegal conduct.  

Defendant’s Wetland Clearing Activities 

Bowman owns a previously wooded wetland parcel, located in New Union, that is 

hydrologically connected to the Muddy River (Muddy) and wholly within the 100-year 

floodplain.  (R. at 3-4.)  Of the parcel’s 1,000 acres, 650 feet abut the Muddy.  (R. at 3.)  The 

wetland contributes to maintaining the Muddy’s integrity by absorbing sediment and pollutants 

and buffering yearly flooding.  (R. at 6.)  The Muddy and Bowman’s abutting wetland parcel 

have provided habitat for fish, frogs, trees, and vegetation.  (R. at 3, 4, 6.)  On June 15, 2011, 

without seeking or securing a permit under section 404 the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1344, Bowman 
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commenced land-clearing operations.  (R. at 4.)  With bulldozers, he leveled wetland trees and 

vegetation and pushed the material into windrows.  (R. at 4.)  Next, he burned the windrows and 

bulldozed trenches, which he filled with the remaining leveled vegetation and ashes.  (R. at 4.)  

He bulldozed soil from high to low-lying portions of the wetland and also into the trenches.  (R. 

at 4.)  Bowman dug a ditch across the parcel for draining the wetland into the Muddy.  (R. at 5.)   

CWA Enforcement Efforts 

On July 1, 2011, NUWF, a non-profit corporation organized under the laws of New 

Union whose purpose is to protect the state’s fish and wildlife and their habitats, among other 

things, sent Bowman a notice to sue under the citizen suit provision, section 505 of the CWA.  

33 U.S.C. § 1365 (2012); (R. at 4.)  Shortly afterward, NUDEP sent Bowman notice that his 

activities violated state and federal law.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman continued ditching, land-clearing, 

and filling until 2.24 acres of wetland remained, effectively transforming the parcel into a leveled 

field for growing winter wheat.  (R. at 4-5.)  On July 15, 2011, Bowman ceased work.  (R. at 4.)  

Since then, his only subsequent actions have been draining and cultivating winter wheat on the 

now-agricultural lot.  (R. at 7.) 

EPA has properly delegated NUDEP authority to administer New Union’s CWA 

program.  (R. at 4.)  New Union’s CWA statute is identical to the federal statute.  (R. at 4.)  In 

the exercise of its expertise and authority, NUDEP entered a settlement agreement with 

Bowman, under which Bowman agreed not to clear more wetlands, to convey a conservation 

easement granting daytime public access to the remaining 2.24 acres, and to convey a 75-foot-

wide buffer zone, on which he would construct and maintain a year-round wetland entirely at his 

own expense.  (R. at 4.)  The conservation allows daytime public entry for recreational purposes 

and forbids Bowman from developing it in any way other than constructing and maintaining the 
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wetland.  (R. at 4.)  On August 1, 2011, Bowman consented to an administrative order that 

incorporated the agreement with NUDEP.  (R. at 4.)  On September 5, 2011, NUDEP filed a 

motion to enter a decree formalizing the administrative order, which is still pending.  (R. at 5.)  

On August 10, 2011, NUDEP brought suit in federal court and filed a complaint against 

Bowman in the district court under section 505 of the CWA.  33 U.S.C. § 1365; (R. at 5.)   

The Use and Enjoyment of the Muddy Area 

Three NUWF members, Dottie Milford (Milford), Zeke Norton (Norton), and Effie 

Lawless (Lawless), use the Muddy for recreational boating and fishing and often picnic on its 

banks on or near Bowman’s parcel.  (R. at 6.)  They feel a loss from its destruction and fear the 

Muddy is more polluted than prior to Bowman’s activities.  (R. at 6.)  In addition, Milford 

testified that the Muddy “looks more polluted to her than prior to Bowman’s activities.”  (R. at 

6.)  Norton has frogged the area, including Bowman’s wetland parcel, for years.  (R. at 6.)  Since 

Bowman’s land-clearing operations, Norton’s frogging yields have significantly diminished, 

although he has been on notice that he may have lacked a formal right to access Bowman’s land.  

(R. at 6.)  Once constructed, restored, and maintained, the wetland acreage under conservation 

easement will provide richer wetland habitat than the former, occasionally inundated land.  (R. at 

3, 6.)  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court reviews de novo both the grant of a party’s motion for summary judgment and 

the denial of a party’s cross-motion, in each case construing the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the non-moving party.  Scholastic, Inc. v. Harris, 259 F.3d 73, 81 (2d Cir. 2001).  

Summary judgment is appropriate upon a showing “that there is no genuine issue as to any 
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material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”  FED. R. CIV. 

P. 56(C).  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 NUWF establishes standing because its members have suffered an injury-in-fact as a 

result of Bowman’s activities.  NUWF members have a concrete and particularized interest in 

ensuring the ecological integrity of the wetlands.  They need not have a substantive right of 

access to Bowman’s property to assert injury to their legally protected interests.  The injury to 

NUWF members’ recreational and aesthetic enjoyment of the Muddy is directly traceable to 

Bowman’s land-clearing activities and resulting damage to the hydrologic system.  A favorable 

court decision will redress NUWF’s injuries because it will deter Bowman from further 

diminishing the Muddy’s recreational and aesthetic values.  Furthermore, an injunction requiring 

restoration of the wetlands will rectify NUWF’s injuries. 

 Though NUWF has established standing sufficient to bring a suit, its claims for injunctive 

relief and civil penalties are moot because Bowman’s violations are not “ongoing” as required by 

the citizen suit provision of the CWA.  The critical time for determining whether there is an 

ongoing violation is when the complaint is filed.  Because Bowman’s dredging and filling 

operations ceased before NUWF filed suit, the court must then look to Bowman’s current 

activities.  These activities include drainage and cultivation of winter wheat, both of which 

NUWF stimulates are not CWA violations.  To accept NUWF’s argument that the mere presence 

of dredged and fill material constitutes a continuing violation would undermine the present 

violation requirement.  Even if this Court decides that the presence of the fill material itself 

constitutes a continuing violation, Bowman came into compliance with the CWA pursuant to 

NUDEP’s compliance order before NUWF filed its complaint.  Further, it is very unlikely that 
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Bowman will violate CWA in the future because he deeded his remaining land to NUDEP as a 

conservation easement.  

 NUWF’s citizen suit is further barred under the citizen suit provision because NUDEP 

was diligently prosecuting Bowman in its own civil action before NUWF filed its complaint.  

NUWF has failed to overcome the presumption of diligence afforded to state agencies that 

enforce the CWA in the proper exercise of their authority and expertise.  Rather, NUDEP’s 

prompt action is calculated to require compliance with the CWA.  Even though NUDEP chose 

not to assess civil penalties against Bowman at this time, prosecution is diligent because it 

requires Bowman to restore and maintain the remaining wetlands at his own expense and also to 

refrain from future development.  In effect, Bowman must comply with the CWA in a manner 

that will bring direct, immediate, and tangible benefits to the wetland and Muddy area.  In 

addition, there is no indication that NUDEP’s civil action forecloses the possibility of assessing 

civil penalties in the future.  Finally, requiring full restoration and assessing civil penalties, as 

NUWF requests, would improperly supplant, rather than supplement, NUDEP’s civil action, thus 

undermining Congress’s intent for including the diligent prosecution bar in the citizen suit 

provision.   

 Lastly, Bowman’s actions violate section 301 of the CWA, which prohibits the 

unpermitted addition of pollutants into navigable waters from a point source.  Statutory 

interpretation and case law in other circuits demand a conclusion that Bowman’s unpermitted 

dredging and filling activities added pollutants to the wetland.  To fulfill the purpose of the 

CWA, Congress intended to regulate the displacement of material in wetlands, as well as the 

redeposit of dredged spoil and biological materials.  NUWF’s attempt to apply the NPDES 

Water Transfers Rule to section 404 fails for three reasons.  First, EPA’s interpretation that the 
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rule does not apply to section 404 merits Seminole Rock deference.  Second, the Water Transfers 

rule cannot logically be construed to define “addition” because it only created a narrow exclusion 

from section 402.  Third, even if EPA’s rule defines “addition,” it cannot reasonably carry the 

same meaning under section 404 because such application would produce absurd results.  

Finally, EPA’s “outside world theory” cannot be used to support Bowman’s attempt to evade 

penalty because of its limited application to section 402. 

ARGUMENT 

V. NUWF HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE BOWMAN’S ILLEGAL DREDGING 
AND FILLING OPERATIONS.   

 
Article III, Section 2 of the United States Constitution limits federal court jurisdiction to 

“cases” and “controversies.”  U.S. CONST. art. III.  To satisfy this requirement and establish 

standing, a plaintiff must show:  (1) it “suffered an injury in fact”; (2) the injury is “fairly . . . 

trace[able] to the challenged action of the defendant”; and (3) that it “is likely, as opposed to 

merely speculative, that the injury will redressed by a favorable decision.”  Lujan v. Defenders of 

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted); Friends 

of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Serv. (TOC), Inc. (Laidlaw), 528 U.S. 167, 181 (2000).  

Although the district court denied NUWF standing based on “injury-in-fact,” without addressing 

traceability or redressability, NUWF satisfies all three elements for establishing Article III 

standing.  

The Supreme Court has held that organizations such as NUWF have standing to sue on 

behalf of its members “when [1] its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own 

right, [2] the interests at stake are germane to the organization’s purpose, and [3] neither the 

claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of individual members in the 

lawsuit.”  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 181 (citing Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Adver. Comm’n, 432 U.S. 
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333, 343 (1977)).  NUWF satisfies the second prong because protection and restoration of the 

Muddy and Bowman’s abutting wetland parcel, which provide habitat for fish, frogs, vegetation, 

and trees, are clearly germane to NUWF’s purpose to “protect the fish and wildlife of the state by 

protecting their habitats.”  (R. at 3, 4, 6.)  The third prong is also satisfied.  NUWF, a non-profit 

corporation, could otherwise file suit without individual participation because “citizen” includes 

“a person” under the citizen suit provision and a “corporation” is a “person” under the CWA.  33 

U.S.C. §§ 1362(5), 1365(g); (R. at 4.)  NUWF’s requested relief does not require individual 

participation because neither civil penalties nor injunctive relief would flow to a particular 

individual.  Therefore, if NUWF members would otherwise have standing to sue on their own 

right, then NUWF has organizational standing.   

The Supreme Court has ruled that only one plaintiff must have standing for a case to 

proceed.  Bowmen v. Kendrick, 487 U.S. 589, 620 n.15 (1988); Watt v. Energy Action Educ. 

Found., 454 U.S. 151, 160 (1981).  Although only one NUWF member needs standing to 

establish NUWF’s organizational standing, Milford, Lawless, and Norton each satisfy the 

standing requirements.  (R. at 6.)    

A. NUWF Members Suffered “Injury-in-Fact” to Their Aesthetic, Recreational, and 
Economic Interests. 

 
The first prong of Article III standing requires a showing that the claimant “suffered an 

injury in fact—an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized 

and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.”  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560-61.  It is 

well settled that “injury-in-fact” includes harm to “aesthetic, recreational, and economic 

interests.”  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 183; see also United States v. Students Challenging Regulatory 

Agency Procedures (SCRAP), 412 U.S. 669, 686-87 (1973) (holding that harm to claimants’ “use 

and enjoyment of natural resources” constituted injury-in-fact).  
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Milford, Norton, and Lawless suffered “injury-in-fact” to their aesthetic and recreational 

interests.  In Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Environmental Services (Laidlaw), the 

Supreme Court held that the petitioners’ “reasonable concerns” about the respondent’s illegal 

pollutant discharges into a river satisfied “injury-in-fact” because their “aesthetic, recreational, 

and economic interests” were harmed.  528 U.S. at 183-84.  The petitioners had submitted 

testimony and affidavits that the river “looked and smelled polluted”; that they previously used 

the area “in and near the river” to “fish, camp, swim, and picnic”; and that they discontinued 

recreational activities because of the pollution.  Id. at 182-84.  Similar to the plaintiffs in 

Laidlaw, the three affiants use the Muddy and the surrounding area for recreational boating, 

fishing, and picnicking.  (R. at 6.)  Even though the record lacks indication that they have ceased 

use, they “feel a loss from the destruction of the wetlands, fearing the Muddy is more polluted.”  

(R. at 6.)  In addition, Milford testified that the Muddy “looks more polluted to her than prior to 

Bowman’s activities.”  (R. at 6.)  Affiants’ concerns are reasonable because wetlands filter 

pollutants and buffer flooding, thus capturing pollutants that would otherwise flow into abutting 

waterways.  (R. at 6.)  Like in Laidlaw, harm to affiants’ aesthetic interests and recreational 

enjoyment is “concrete,” “actual,” and “imminent,” thus establishing “injury-in-fact.”  Lujan, 

504 U.S. at 560-61.   

Even if this Court finds that affiants were not sufficiently injured on account of their 

pollution concerns and sense of loss, Norton independently satisfies the injury requirement based 

on harm to his frogging activities, which affected his recreational, and arguably economic, 

interests.  For years, Norton has frogged the area, including Bowman’s parcel, for recreation and 

subsistence.  (R. at 6.)  Norton has suffered “concrete” and “actual” injury, 504 U.S. at 560-61, 
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because his frogging yields have significantly diminished since Bowman leveled most of the 

1,000-acre wetland parcel.  (R. at 1, 2, 6.)   

The fact that Norton was on notice that he may have lacked a substantive right to access 

to Bowman’s parcel does not invalidate a proper showing of injury.  (R. at 6.)  In Cantrell v. City 

of Long Beach, the Ninth Circuit held that a plaintiff need not establish a “substantive right 

sounding in property or contract” to adequately demonstrate “injury-in-fact.”  241 F.3d 674, 681 

(9th Cir. 2001).  This is consistent with the Supreme Court’s determination that harm to 

“aesthetic, recreational, and economic interests” can satisfy the injury requirement.  Laidlaw, 

528 U.S. at 183 (emphasis added).  In Cantrell, plaintiffs challenged the U.S. Navy’s 

environment impact statement (EIS) under the National Environment Policy Act (NEPA) for the 

closure of a naval base to develop a commercial marine container terminal.  Id.  at 676, 677.  The 

project destroyed bird habitats and interfered with plaintiffs’ birdwatching.  Id. at 677.  Even 

though the birdwatchers had “no legal right to enter the closed station or to stand adjacent to the 

station and gaze over the property line at the birds and their habitat,” the court held that the 

plaintiffs suffered “injury-in-fact,” explaining:  

we have never required a plaintiff to show that he has a right of 
access to the site on which the challenged activity is occurring, or 
that he has an absolute right to enjoy the aesthetic or recreational 
activities that form the basis of his concrete interest.  If an area can 
be observed and enjoyed from adjacent land, plaintiffs need not 
physically enter the affected area to establish an injury in fact. 
 

Id. at 680-81 (emphasis added).  Under the Ninth Circuit’s reasoning in Cantrell, Norton’s 

failure to establish a right to access Bowman’s property bears no import on the injury 

requirement.  (R. at 6.)  It is sufficient that his recreational and economic interests in subsistence 

frogging have been harmed.  (R. at 6.)  Furthermore, in viewing the facts in the light most 

favorable to the non-moving party, Scholastic, 259 F.3d at 81, it is reasonable to infer that 
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Bowman’s wetland destruction also harmed Norton’s frogging activities on the nearby 

riverbanks.  Milford, Lawless, and Norton each suffered “injury-in-fact” and can proceed under 

the remaining standing factors.    

B. NUWF’s Injuries Are Fairly Traceable to Bowman’s Illegal Conduct.  

The second prong of Article III standing requires the injury to be “fairly traceable to the 

challenged action of the defendant, not the result of the independent action of some third party 

not before the court.”  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560-61.  Traceability is undoubtedly met because the 

record indicates that Bowman’s ditching and land-clearing activities caused the NUWF 

members’ injuries.  (R. at 4, 6.)  There is no evidence on the record implicating a third party.  (R. 

at 1-11.)  Bowman leveled and demolished nearly all of the wetland parcel’s trees and vegetation 

with bulldozers and burned the remains.  (R. at 4.)  He bulldozed the ashes and vegetation into 

trenches and dug a ditch for draining the parcel.  (R. at 4.)  These activities not only violated the 

CWA but also damaged the wetland ecosystem, such that, according to NUWF members’ 

affidavits and testimonies, they feel a sense of loss, the Muddy became more polluted, and 

Norton’s frogging yields diminished.  (R. at 6.)  Due to the direct causal link between Bowman’s 

conduct and NUWF members’ injury, traceability is satisfied.       

C. A Favorable Decision Would Likely Redress NUWF’s Injuries.  

To satisfy the third prong of Article III standing, “it must be likely, as opposed to merely 

speculative, that the injury will redressed by a favorable decision.”  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560-61.    

NUWF seeks civil penalties and an injunction against Bowman to remove the fill material and 

restore the wetlands.  (R. at 5.)  Civil penalties have a “deterrent effect” that “forestall[s] future 

violations,” Laidlaw, 528 U.S at 173, and “prevent a violator from profiting from its 

wrongdoing.”  United States v. Mun. Auth. of Union, 150 F.3d 259, 263 (3d Cir. 1998).  
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Deterring Bowman and others from violating the CWA would provide redress for NUWF 

members, who share the organization’s mission to promote habitat protection, and use the 

Muddy and its abutting wetlands for various activities.  (R. at 5.)  Ordering Bowman to remove 

the fill material and restore the wetlands also would redress the plaintiffs’ recreational and 

aesthetic injuries.  (R. at 5.)  It is important to note that redress through full restoration is 

unwarranted because NUDEP is diligently prosecuting Bowman’s violations in its own civil 

action, as discussed infra in Part III.  This Court should properly limit its redressability finding to 

the issue of NUWF’s standing.   

VI. BOWMAN’S CWA VIOLATIONS ARE WHOLLY PAST, NOT CONTINUING. 

 The court below was correct in concluding that NUWF had failed to meet its burden of 

establishing that Bowman’s violations were continuing.  (R. at 7.)  To establish subject matter 

jurisdiction over NUWF’s claim, NUWF must show Bowman “to be in violation” of the CWA.  

33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1) (2012).  In Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Foundation 

(Gwaltney), the Supreme Court underscored the present-tense nature of the statutory language, 

concluding that “[t]he most natural reading of ‘to be in violation’ is a requirement that citizen-

plaintiffs allege a state of either continuous or intermittent violation—that is, a reasonable 

likelihood that a past polluter will continue to pollute in the future.”  484 U.S. 49, 57 (1987).  

Therefore, citizen suits are available for ongoing, not wholly past, violations.   

On remand, the Fourth Circuit held that overcoming the Supreme Court’s bar on wholly 

past violations requires either (1) proof that the violations “continue on or after the date the 

complaint is filed” or (2) evidence from which “a reasonable trier of fact could find a continuing 

likelihood of a recurrence in intermittent or sporadic violations.”  Chesapeake Bay Found. v. 

Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd., 890 F.2d 690, 693 (4th Cir. 1989).  Here, NUWF failed to prove 
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that Bowman’s conduct is a continuing violation.  First, Bowman’s dredging and land-clearing 

operations ceased before NUWF filed its complaint and his current activities do not constitute 

violations under the CWA.  Second, NUWF failed to substantiate its allegation that Bowman will 

possibly commit future violations.  Bowman has not only deeded his remaining land to NUDEP, 

but also agreed to a compliance order, which requires maintenance of a conservation easement 

and refraining from future violations.  (R. at 4-5.) 

A. No CWA Violations Continued On or After the Date the Complaints Were Filed. 

For purposes of civil penalties under the CWA, “[t]he critical time for determining 

whether there is an ongoing violation is when the complaint was filed.”  Conn. Coastal 

Fishermen’s Ass’n v. Remington Arms Co. (Remington), 989 F.2d 1305, 1311 (2d Cir. 1993).  

Bowman’s unpermitted ditching and land-clearing operations indeed violated the CWA, as 

discussed infra in Part IV.  On July 1, 2011, NUWF sent a notice of intent to sue Bowman.  (R. 

at 4.)  On or about July 15, 2011, Bowman ceased dredging and land-clearing activities.  (R. at 

4.)  On August 10, 2011, NUDEP filed its complaint against Bowman.  (R. at 5.)   On August 30, 

2011, NUWF filed its complaint.  (R. at 5.)  Because the critical date is when the complaint is 

filed, and because Bowman had ceased ditching and land-clearing activities prior to the filing of 

either claim, Bowman’s violations are wholly past, not continuing.  Having easily met the timing 

limit regarding Bowman’s prior ditching and land-clearing activities, it is necessary to address 

and dispel arguments implicating Bowman’s current activities and the presence of dredged and 

fill material in the now-agricultural lot.   

1. Bowman’s current activities are exempt from the CWA.   

Since Bowman ceased ditching and land-clearing activities, his only subsequent actions 

have been cultivating winter wheat and draining the parcel using the ditch that he had dug prior 
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to both complaints.  (R. at 7.)  Under section 404 of the CWA, discharge of dredged or fill 

material in the course of “normal farming, silviculture, and ranching activities such as plowing, 

seeding, cultivating, minor drainage, harvesting for the production of food, fiber, and forest 

products, or upland soil and water conservation practices” are exempt from regulation.  33 

U.S.C. § 1344(f) (2012).  Plaintiffs stipulate that draining the former wetland parcel and planting 

winter wheat are not “addition[s]” under the CWA.  Id. § 1362(12)(A) (2012); (R. at 7.)  

Therefore, an argument that Bowman’s activities are ongoing violations must fail both as a 

matter of law and because NUWF did not raise this issue in the district court. 

 NUWF might argue that Bowman’s subsequent activities fall under the exception “any 

discharge or dredged or fill material into the navigable waters incidental to any activity having as 

its purpose bringing an area of the navigable waters into a use to which it was not previously 

subject . . . shall be required to have a permit under this section.”  33 U.S.C. § 1344(f)(2).  The 

provision is not applicable in this case because Bowman had changed the character of his land 

before NUDEP and NUWF filed suits  (R. at 4-5.)  At that point, Bowman’s parcel was already 

agricultural land ready for winter wheat cultivation.  (R. at 4-5.)  Because none of Bowman’s 

current activities fall within the purview of the CWA, NUWF may not proceed with its citizen 

suit. 

2. The mere presence of dredged and fill material is not a continuing violation.  
  

NUWF claims that section 404 violations are continuing until the fill material is removed.  

(R. at 7.)  The Second Circuit’s reasoning in Remington should govern in this case.  989 F.2d 

1305.  In Remington, defendants discharged lead shot and clay fragments into a marsh 

continuously for more than 70 years.  Id. at 1308.  The court held that 16 million pounds of fill 

material could not be a continuing violation simply because it had continued to dissolve.  Id.  
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The court noted that the “present violation requirement of the [CWA] would be completely 

undermined if a violation included the mere decomposition of pollutants.”  Id. at 1313.  In this 

case, even if the vegetation and ashes continue to decompose, there is no continuing violation. 

Even if this Court finds that the presence of fill material is a continuing violation, other 

courts have held that complying with the order can render the conduct legal.  The court in 

Orange Environment, Inc. v. County of Orange provides similar persuasive guidance.  923 F. 

Supp. 529 (S.D.N.Y. 1996).  Although the court agreed with plaintiffs that the county’s landfill 

expansion project violated the CWA, it ultimately concluded that the continued presence of the 

fill material did not constitute “wrongful behavior.”  Id. at 540.  The court reasoned that the 

EPA’s order, which required the county to create at least twice the amount of federal wetlands 

that had been illegally filled, brought the county into compliance with the CWA.  Id. at 538.  

Off-site mitigation was one of several alternatives available to enforcement agencies because 

CWA regulations list “several methods . . . which can be used either singly or in combination to 

implement the regulations.”  Id. at 539 (citing 33 C.F.R. § 326.2 (2012)).  The CWA, which is 

identical to NUDEP’s state statute, grants the implementing agency discretion in issuing 

compliance orders.  33 U.S.C. § 1319(a); (R. at 4.)  Like the U.S. Environmental Protection 

Agency (EPA) in Orange Environment, NUDEP has determined that the most effective solution 

is a conservation easement rather than restoration of the wetlands, and its administrative 

interpretation merits deference.  Id. at 539 (citing United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, 

Inc., 474 U.S. 121, 131 (1985)).  

 The lead case in which the court found a continuing violation based on the continued 

presence of dredged and fill material is distinguishable from this case.  In Sasser v. EPA, 

Congress amended the CWA in 1987 to authorize the EPA to assess administrative penalties.  
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990 F.2d 127 (4th Cir. 1993).  Sasser had discharged dredged and fill materials without a permit 

in 1986, and argued that the EPA’s penalty was an unlawful retrospective application of the 1987 

Amendment.  Id. at 129.  The Fourth Circuit rejected this argument and held that “[e]ach day the 

pollutant remains without a permit is another day in violation.”  Id.  Plus, Sasser had repeatedly 

refused to comply with the EPA’s administration order and restoration plan.  Id. at 128.  Because 

Sasser turned on whether the violation was continuing to determine the force of a CWA 

amendment, the court’s decision was narrow and does not apply here.  See United States v. 

Telluride, 884 F. Supp. 404, 406-07 (D. Colo. 1995), rev’d on other grounds, 146 F.3d 1241 

(10th Cir. 1998) (distinguishing Sasser on these grounds).  In this case, there have been no 

subsequent CWA amendments that have changed the enforcement regime and Bowman cannot 

logically violate a compliance order that has not yet been formalized.  (R. at 5.)  

Further, ruling that Bowman’s current conduct constitutes a continuing violation could 

expose Bowman to extreme civil, and perhaps criminal, penalties.  See 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g) 

(2012) (stating that civil penalties can be assessed up to $ 10,000 per day, not to exceed $ 

125,000); see also id. § 1319(c) (stating that criminal penalties for first-offense negligent 

violations can be assessed at $ 2,500 to $ 25,000 per day, not to exceed $ 50,000, or 

imprisonment for up to one year).  Such a result would fly in the face of justice because Bowman 

has already entered into a costly agreement with NUDEP.  (R. at 4, 7.)  

B. There is No Reasonable Likelihood that Bowman Will Violate the CWA in the 
Future. 

 
 There is no evidence on the record from which a reasonable trier of fact could find a 

continuing likelihood of future violations.  (R. at 1-11.)  “If, after the complaint is filed, the 

defendant comes into compliance with the [CWA], then traditional principles of mootness will 

prevent maintenance of the suit for injunctive relief as long as there is no reasonable likelihood 
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that the wrongful behavior will recur.”  Atl. States Legal Found. v. Tyson Foods, 897 F.2d 1128, 

1135 (11th Cir. 1990); Orange Env’t, 923 F.2d at 530.  Based on prevailing legal standards in the 

sister circuits, this Court should consider whether Bowman has “come into compliance” with the 

CWA and whether “wrongful behavior will recur.”  Atl. States Legal Found., 897 F.2d at 1135.  

Entering an agreement and compliance order with NUDEP brought Bowman into compliance 

with the CWA.  (R. at 4-5.)  It is unlikely that Bowman will recommence dredging and filling 

wetlands because he deeded the remaining wetlands to NUDEP in a conservation easement.  (R. 

at 7.)  

 Compliance orders can achieve quick remediation of CWA violations.  Sackett v. EPA, 

132 S. Ct. 1367, 1374 (2012).  In this case, NUDEP negotiated the settlement agreement, issued 

the administrative order incorporating the agreement, and secured Bowman’s consent to both 

within one month of serving notice of Bowman’s violation.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman agreed to convey 

to NUDEP a conservation easement adjacent to the Muddy, as well as an additional 75-foot-wide 

buffer zone between that wooded area and the new field.  (R. at 4.)  In Orange Environment, the 

court held that the defendant’s consent to an EPA remediation order had the practical effect of 

rendering plaintiff’s claims for injunctive relief moot because it brought the violator into 

compliance with the CWA.  923 F. Supp. at 540.  Because the purpose of the CWA is to provide 

society with a remedy against polluters, “[t]he fact that the remediation order here does not meet 

the desires of the private parties is not crucial.”  Id. at 539.  Likewise, the fact that some NUWF 

members may not be completely satisfied with the exact terms of the Order does not carry 

sufficient weight.  

 Because Bowman’s future activities, including agriculture and maintenance of the 

artificial wetland, will be in full compliance with the CWA, there is no possibility of future 



 

 18 

CWA violations.  The NUDEP order secured a conservation easement for the enjoyment of the 

community, including NUWF members, and has required the violator to not only maintain the 

easement area in its natural state, but also to construct and maintain a functional wetland on the 

75-foot-wide buffer zone.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman is forbidden from developing the land in any way.  

(R. at 4.)   

 In Gwaltney, the Court reasoned that the purpose of notice to the alleged violator was to 

give him the chance to comply with the Act.  484 U.S. at 60.  Bowman completed his work soon 

after receiving NUWF’s notice of intent to sue him under section 505 of the CWA.  (R. at 4.)  

The district court was correct in concluding that NUWF’s argument would “obviate the 

continuing violation jurisdictional requirement articulated in § 505 of the CWA.”  (R. at 7.)  

Bowman willingly complied with NUDEP’s Order, remedying his previous violations and 

promising to refrain from committing future violations on his land.  (R. at 4.)  The district court’s 

ruling that NUWF did not meet its burden in proving a continuing violation was appropriate, and 

should be upheld by this Court.   

III. NUWF’S CITIZEN SUIT IS BARRED BECAUSE NUDEP IS DILIGENTLY 
PROSECUTING BOWMAN’S CWA VIOLATION. 

 
A citizen suit under section 505 of the CWA is barred if the “State has commenced and is 

diligently prosecuting a civil . . . action in a court of the United States . . . to require compliance 

with the [CWA] standard, limitation, or order . . . .”  33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B) (emphasis 

added).  On August 10, 2011, NUDEP filed a complaint against Bowman in the Federal District 

Court for the District of New Union under section 505 of the CWA.  Id. § 1365; (R. at 5.)  The 

suit is still pending.  (R. at 5.)  On August 30, 2011, NUWF filed a complaint against Bowman in 

the same court, also under the citizen suit provision.  33 U.S.C. § 1365; (R. at 5.)  Because 

NUDEP had commenced civil action against Bowman before NUWF filed its claim, NUWF’s 
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suit is barred if the prosecution is “diligen[t].”  33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B).  In addition the 

Supreme Court has instructed that the statutory “bar on citizen suits when governmental 

enforcement action is under way suggests [Congressional intent] that the citizen suit is meant to 

supplement rather than to supplant governmental action.”  Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 60 (emphasis 

added).  NUWF’s suit is barred under both of the above legal standards.  

A. NUWF Failed to Prove That NUDEP’s Prosecution of Bowman Lacked Diligence.  

In general, state agency enforcement actions are presumptively diligent.  E.g., Friends of 

Milwaukee’s Rivers v. Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage Dist. (Milwaukee’s Rivers), 382 F.3d 

743 (7th Cir. 2004).  In undertaking “diligent prosecution” analyses, the courts have traditionally 

conferred great deference to authorized state agencies to enforce state CWA programs.  For 

example, in the First Circuit, “[w]here an agency has specifically addressed the concerns of an 

analogous citizen’s suit, deference to the agency’s plan of attack should be particularly favored.”  

N. & S. Rivers Watershed Ass’n v. Scituate, 949 F.2d 552, 557 (1st Cir. 1991); see also Friends 

of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. (TOC), Inc., 890 F. Supp. 470, 486-487 (D.S.C. 1995) 

(stating that plaintiffs bear a “heavy” burden to prove the state agency’s prosecution was not 

diligent). 

For cases involving settlements under the CWA, the Seventh Circuit limited this 

presumption, stating “diligent prosecution analysis requires more than mere acceptance at face 

value of the potentially self-serving statements of a state agency and the violator with whom it 

settled regarding their intent with respect to the effect of the settlement.”  Milwaukee’s Rivers, 

182 F.3d at 760.  Another court has applied the same limitation to both settlements and consent 

decrees.  Sierra Club v. City & Cnty. of Honolulu, CV. No. 04-00463 DAE-BMK., 2008 WL 

1968317, at *4 (D. Haw. May 7, 2008).  Surviving scrutiny under Milwaukee’s Rivers requires 
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analysis of whether the judicial action:  (1) “is capable of requiring compliance with the [CWA]” 

and (2) “is in good faith calculated to do so.”  Milwaukee’s Rivers, 182 F.3d at 760.  NUDEP’s 

civil action against Bowman meets this heightened standard for diligence.  NUDEP is “capable 

of requiring compliance” with the CWA because New Union’s state CWA statute is identical to 

the federal statute.  (R. at 4.)  There is no showing of bad faith in the record.  (R. at 1-11.)  The 

record compels a finding that NUDEP’s civil action is calculated to require compliance with the 

CWA; therefore, diligent prosecution under the Seventh Circuit’s heightened standard for 

diligence is met.  

1. NUDEP’s prompt enforcement action is calculated to bring Bowman into 
compliance with the CWA.   

 
Through civil action, NUDEP seeks to enter a consent decree that formalizes the 

settlement agreement and compliance order, which imposes six requirements on Bowman:  (1) to 

discontinue clearing the wetlands; (2) to convey a public conservation easement on 2.24 acres 

abutting the Muddy; (3) to convey a 75-foot-wide buffer zone between the easement and the now 

agricultural lands; (4) to construct and maintain a year-round, partially-inundated wetland on the 

2.24-acre easement, at his expense; (5) to discontinue any development on the easement lands 

unless development necessary to maintain the wetland; and (6) to allow daytime entry to the 

wetland for recreational purposes.  (R. at 4, 7-8.)  These conditions are calculated to require 

compliance with the CWA because the easement will effectively enhance the wetlands 

environment on the easement site.  (R. at 8.)  In addition, NUWF members and others will enjoy 

a legal right to enter, use, and enjoy the wetland for recreational purposes.  (R. at 4.)  Even 

though NUDEP requires no restoration on the remainder of Bowman’s parcel, CWA violations 

are no longer occurring on the now-agricultural lands, as discussed supra in Part II.  Thus, 

NUDEP, in its expertise and authority, requires full compliance with the CWA in its civil action.   
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NUDEP’s prosecution efforts are easily distinguishable from cases finding a lack of 

diligence.  One district court found “a perfect example of the state’s lack of diligence” because 

the state had acted as the defendant’s “pen pal” by granting compliance extensions that would 

have allowed twelve years to pass before illegal discharges into a bay violation were rectified.  

N.Y. Coastal Fishermen’s Ass’n v. N.Y. City Dep’t of Sanitation, 772 F. Supp. 162, 163, 168 

(S.D.N.Y. 1991).  Finding this was “simply too long,” the court lacked confidence in the state’s 

ability to enforce compliance, and allowed the citizen suit to proceed.  Id. at 168-69.   

NUDEP, by contrast, swiftly commenced CWA enforcement against Bowman.  Shortly 

after receiving notice of Bowman’s illegal activities on July 1, 2011, NUDEP sent Bowman 

notice that his conduct was violating state and federal environmental laws.  (R. at 4.)  Within one 

month, NUDEP and Bowman entered into a settlement agreement, incorporated into an 

administrative order on August 1, 2011.  (R. at 4.)  On August 10, 2011, NUDEP commenced a 

civil action in district court pursuant to its state statutory duties, identical to section 309(a)(1) of 

the CWA.  33 U.S.C. § 1319(a)(1) (“If beyond the thirtieth day after the Administrator’s 

notification the State has not commenced appropriate enforcement action, the Administrator shall 

issue an order requiring such person to comply with such condition or limitation or shall bring a 

civil action . . . .”); (R. at 4.)  Absent any indication that NUDEP will improperly prolong 

enforcement once the settlement and order are formalized, NUDEP’s civil action cannot fail on 

the grounds of diligence.  (R. at 1-11.) 

2. NUDEP’s decision not to assess civil penalties at this time was proper.  
 

Other courts have deferred to state agency decisions to enforce the CWA without civil 

penalties “where the consent decree requires the defendant to incur substantial costs in 

complying with it terms and where the state court retains jurisdiction to enforce the decree.”  
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Envtl. Integrity Project v. Mirant Corp., CIV JFM-06-2249, 2007 WL 62619, at *3 (D. Md. Jan. 

3, 2007).  For example, one district court found that a state agency’s decision to pursue a $ 1,500 

fine notwithstanding its authority to impose up to $ 10,000 per day did not support a finding of 

lack of diligence because the defendant bore “other substantial costs of the sewer and storm drain 

project [required by the Consent Order], and [the state agency] has reserved the right to assess 

penalties in the future if necessary.”  Cmty. of Cambridge Envtl. Health & Cmty. Dev. Group v. 

City of Cambridge (Cambridge), 115 F. Supp. 2d 550, 557 (D. Md. 2000).   

In the instant case, NUDEP’s Order imposes substantial financial burden on Bowman in 

lieu of immediate penalties.  (R. at 4.)  The district court properly found that the Order requires 

Bowman to bear “considerable initial expense and an indeterminable future expense” to 

construct and maintain the easement wetland.  (R. at 8.)  It should be noted that in Cambridge, an 

entire city bore the project costs, whereas this case requires Bowman to bear all costs of building 

and maintaining the easement wetland indefinitely.  Cambridge, 115 F. Supp. 2d at 557; (R. at 

7.)  Further, the Order enjoins Bowman from developing the easement in any other way, likely 

diminishing its property value.  (R. at 4.)  Moreover, the Order’s requirements will directly 

restore, enhance, and preserve the wetlands, the viewscape of Muddy, and the frog habitat.  (R. at 

8.)  Civil penalties, on the other hand, are paid to the U.S. Treasury rather than to the state with 

the damaged environment.  See Friends of the Earth v. Archer Daniels Midland Co., 780 F. 

Supp. 95, 101 (N.D.N.Y. 1992).  NUDEP’s civil action is calculated to require timely 

compliance to the CWA and will provide immediate and tangible benefits to the wetland and the 

public, thereby rising to the level of diligence, even without civil penalties at this time.  

The First Circuit and other courts have found that state agency enforcement actions 

represent diligent prosecution where the outcome involved little or no monetary penalty but left 
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open the possibility of future civil penalties.  E.g., Scituate, 949 F.2d at 555; Atl. States Legal 

Found. v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 682 F. Supp. 1186, 1187 (N.D. Ala. 1988); Clean Air Council v. 

Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), CIV.A. 02-1553 GMS, 2003 WL 1785879 (D. Del. Apr. 2, 2003).  In 

Scituate, the state agency’s order required the CWA violator to take all steps necessary to plan, 

design, and construct facilities necessary to adequately treat and dispose of all wastewater in 

accordance with a timetable.  Id. at 553.  The order, which did not include civil penalties, was 

sufficiently diligent because it explicitly left open the possibility of penalties.  Id. at 557.  

Similar to the state agency in Scituate, NUDEP decided not to pursue administrative 

penalties in its initial order despite its authority to include up to $125,000 in penalties in such an 

order after notice and a hearing.  See cf. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(2)(B).  Because Bowman 

maintained he did not violate state or federal environmental protection laws, NUDEP 

strategically entered a settlement and incorporated it into the Order to immediately prevent 

Bowman from further damaging the environment.  (R. at 4.)  The record does not indicate that 

the Order precludes NUDEP from pursuing civil penalties in its civil action against Bowman for 

violating section 404 of the CWA.  (R. at 5.)  Additionally, if this Court finds in NUDEP’s favor, 

then it must impose civil penalties against Bowman.  See 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d) (“Any person who 

violates section 1311 . . . or any permit condition or limitation . . . under section 1344 . . . shall 

be subject to a civil penalty . . . .”).  Therefore, any disagreement about when monetary penalties 

should be assessed against Bowman does not represent failed diligent prosecution.  

B. NUWF’s Citizen Suit Seeking Full Restoration of the Parcel and Civil Penalties 
Improperly Supplants NUDEP’s Diligent Prosecution of Bowman. 

 
The Supreme Court has instructed that this statutory “bar on citizen suits when 

governmental enforcement action is under way suggests [Congressional intent] that the citizen 

suit is meant to supplement rather than to supplant governmental action.”  Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 
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60 (emphasis added).  Although NUDEP and NUWF seek different remedies, granting NUWF’s 

requested relief would improperly substitute, rather than augment, NUDEP’s action. 

NUDEP seeks formalization of its settlement agreement and administrative Order, which 

require Bowman to construct and maintain a year-round wetland and buffer zone, convey an 

easement over the wetland, and allow daytime public access.  (R. at 7-8).  NUWF, on the other 

hand, seeks full restoration and civil penalties.  (R. at 5.)  An argument that NUWF’s action 

supplements NUDEP’s cannot stand because full restoration and administrative penalties would 

effectively undo the conservation easement and buffer zone and usurp NUDEP’s authority and 

expertise.  There would be no guarantee of continued preservation of the wetland easement, nor 

certainty that the public would have access.  (R. at 4.)   

One court has ruled that barring a subsequent citizen suit under 33 U.S.C. § 

1365(b)(1)(B) “does not require the government’s efforts to be precisely as the plaintiff-

citizenship group prefers or equally burdensome to the defendant as the remedy sought by the 

citizen suit complaint.”  Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envt’l Servs. (TOC), Inc., 890 

F.Supp. at 490 (citation omitted); see also Clean Air Council v. Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), at *5.  

Instead, the courts examine if  “the government’s efforts may reach the same result sought by 

[the] plaintiff.”  N.Y. Coastal Fishermen's Ass'n v. N.Y. City Dep’t of Sanitation, 772 F. Supp. at 

167; Clean Air Council v. Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), at *5.  In Clean Air Council, the citizen-plaintiff 

alleged the defendant, a petroleum refinery, violated the Clean Air Act by excessively flaring, a 

process of destructing gas.  Id. at *1.  Plaintiff alleged state enforcement efforts fell short of 

diligent prosecution because it failed to provide interim or permanent solutions, concrete goals, 

or timely goals.  Id. at *5.  The court compared the gravamen of the citizen suit’s complaint, 

defendant’s excessive flaring, with the government’s order, which required “specific immediate 
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steps to address known or suspected causes of flaring” and a reduction of all flaring.  Id.  The 

court found diligent prosecution because the order addressed plaintiff’s goal of eliminating 

flaring events.  Id.  In this case, the gravamen of NUWF’s complaint is restoration of the 

wetlands.  NUDEP’s Order addresses this goal by ordering Bowman to discontinue clearing and 

development of the wetlands.  It also requires Bowman to reconstruct and maintain a new 

wetland. Thus, NUWF’s injunction disagreement does not represent failed diligent prosecution 

because its goals will be reached by NUDEP’s enforcement efforts. 

IV.    BOWMAN VIOLATED THE CWA BY DREDGING AND FILLING THE WETLAND 
PARCEL WITHOUT A SECTION 404 PERMIT. 

  
Sections 301(a) and 502(a) of the CWA together prohibit the unpermitted addition of 

pollutants into navigable waters from a point source.  33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1362(12)(A).  All 

parties stipulate that Bowman moved pollutants, the bulldozers were point sources, and that 

wetland parcel was a navigable water within the meaning of the CWA.  (R. at 8-9.)  There is no 

evidence in the record that Bowman sought or received a permit.  (R. at 1-11.)  The only 

remaining issue is whether Bowman’s ditching and land-clearing activities constituted “addition” 

under the CWA.  33 U.S.C. § 1362(12)(A).   

 Statutory interpretation and precedent in the sister circuits compel a conclusion that 

Bowman added pollutants in the course of transforming the parcel from a sloping, vegetated 

wetland to a leveled agricultural lot.  (R. at 4.)  Neither the Water Transfers Rule nor the “outside 

world theory,” which narrowly apply to the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

(NPDES) under section 402 of the CWA, can support Bowman’s attempt to evade penalty for 

failing to seek or obtain a permit for dredging and filling the parcel under section 404.  Thus, 

Bowman’s conduct met all the requisite elements of a CWA violation. 
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A. Bowman’s Unpermitted Ditching and Land-clearing Activities Constituted 
“Addition” Under Section 404 of the CWA. 

  
Congress defined “discharge of a pollutant” as “any addition of any pollutant to 

navigable waters from any point source,” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12), but did not define “addition.” 

Nor have the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) nor the EPA defined the term in their CWA 

regulations.  See 33 C.F.R. § 323 (2012); 40 C.F.R. § 122 (2012).  Absent Supreme Court 

precedent, statutory interpretation and prevailing case law in the sister circuits command a 

conclusion that Bowman’s unpermitted dredging and filling activities added pollutants to his 

wetland parcel. 

First, the plain meaning of “add” is “to join, annex, or unite so as to bring about an 

increase or so as to form one aggregate.”  WEBSTER’S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 

24 (2002).  Once Bowman dredged the wetland parcel in the course of digging trenches and 

ditches and pushing soil from high to low ground, the displaced material “became ‘dredged 

spoil,’ a statutory pollutant and type of material that up until then was not present” on the 

property.  United States v. Deaton, 209 F.3d 331, 336 (4th Cir. 2000) (emphasis in original) 

(citing 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6); (R. at 4.)  Although the district court concluded that “nothing is 

added when a defendant moves soil, no matter what you call it, a mere few feet within the 

wetland,” the statute plainly “does not prohibit the addition of material; it prohibits ‘the addition 

of any pollutant.’”  Deaton, 209 F.3d at 335 (emphasis added) (citing 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12)); (R. 

at 10.)  Furthermore, clearing and burning the vegetation and trees and pushing the remains into 

windrows, added pollutants because these “biological materials,” another statutory pollutant 

under 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6), were not present in the wetland soil until Bowman cleared and 

leveled it.  See Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 923 (5th Cir. 1983) 

(holding that burying logs in the course of clearing and leveling a wetland constituted “addition” 
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of fill material); (R. at 4.)   

Second, redepositing dredged spoil and biological materials into the wetland parcel is 

precisely the type of conduct that Congress intended to regulate to achieve the purpose of 

“restor[ing] and maintain[ing] the chemical, physical and biological integrity of the Nation’s 

waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a) (2012).  In elaborating on the purpose of section 404 of the CWA, 

Senator Muskie, one of the primary sponsors of the bill, stated, “[t]here is no question that the 

systematic destruction of the Nation’s wetlands is causing serious, permanent ecological damage.  

The wetlands . . . are the Nation’s most biologically active areas.  They represent a principal 

source of food supply.”  123 CONG. REC. 26,697 (1977).  As NUWF members contend, 

Bowman’s activities compromised the wetland’s capacity to absorb sediment and pollutants and 

buffer flooding, which otherwise would maintain the biological integrity of the Muddy and the 

contiguous wetland, and also inhibited Norton’s ability to frog for subsistence.  (R. at 6.)  

Systematically destroying the wetland falls squarely within the regulable activities that Congress 

contemplated in passing section 404 of the CWA.   

To be sure, every majority opinion to address the issue has held that ditching and land-

clearing within a wetland without removing material constitutes “addition” under section 404 of 

the CWA.  In United States v. Deaton, the Fourth Circuit held that redepositing excavated 

material during the course of digging a ditch for draining the parcel “added a pollutant where 

none had been before.”  209 F.3d 331, 333, 335-36 (4th Cir. 2000).  The Seventh and Ninth 

Circuits applied the same reasoning to ditching and deep-ripping activities, respectively.  United 

States v. Huebner, 752 F.2d 1235, 1242 (7th Cir. 1985); Borden Ranch P’ship v. United States 

Army Corps of Eng’rs, 261 F.3d 810, 812, 815 n.2 (9th Cir. 2001).  Even in National Mining 

Association v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, in which the D.C. Circuit held that the Corps had 



 

 28 

exceeded its authority by attempting to regulate “any redeposit” of dredged material, including 

“incidental fallback,” the court explicitly limited its decision, stating, “[b]ut we do not hold that 

the Corps may not legally regulate some forms of redeposit under its § 404 permitting authority.”  

145 F.3d 1399, 1405 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (footnote omitted).  Bowman’s conduct was clearly 

distinguishable from the “incidental fallback” at issue in National Mining because it did not 

achieve a “net withdrawal” of pollutants.  145 F.3d at 1404.  Based on precedent in the sister 

circuits, this Court should likewise hold that Bowman’s ditching and land-clearing activities 

added pollutants to the wetland parcel.  

B. Legal Precedent and Logic Preclude the NPDES Water Transfers Rule from Applying 
to Section 404 of the CWA. 

  
Attempting to apply the NPDES Water Transfers Rule to section 404 of the CWA fails 

on three grounds.  First EPA’s contemporaneous interpretation that the rule does not apply to 

section 404 merits deference; second, construing the rule to define “addition” defies logic; and 

third, even if the EPA defined “addition,” this definition cannot reasonably apply to section 404.   

1. EPA’s contemporaneous interpretation of its own rule merits Seminole Rock 
deference. 

  
Supreme Court precedent mandates that an agency’s interpretation of its own regulation 

bears “controlling weight unless it is plainly erroneous or inconsistent with the regulation.”  

Bowles v. Seminole Rock & Sand Co., 325 U.S. 410, 414 (1945).  The courts have given more 

deference to contemporaneous than non-contemporaneous agency interpretations.  See Matthew 

C. Stephenson & Miri Pogorlier, Seminole Rock’s Domain, 79 GEO. WASH. L. REV. 1449, 1472 

(2011).  In EPA’s Water Transfers Rule, which categorically excluded water transfers from 

constituting “addition” under the section 402 NPDES program, the EPA stated, “because 

Congress explicitly forbade discharges of dredged material except as in compliance with CWA 
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section 301, today’s rule has no effect on the 404 permit program, under which discharges of 

dredged or fill material may be authorized by permit.”  National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 

System (NPDES) Water Transfers Rule, 73 Fed. Reg. 33,697, 33,699, 33,703 (June 13, 2008).  

This contemporaneous interpretation is neither plainly erroneous nor inconsistent with the 

regulation because discharging dredged materials under section 404 lacks resemblance to a 

“water transfer,” which the EPA defined as “an activity that conveys or connects waters of the 

United States without subjecting the transferred water to intervening industrial, municipal, or 

commercial use.” 73 Fed. Reg. 33,697, 33,699 (June 13, 2008) (to be codified at 40 C.F.R. § 

123.3(i) (2012)).  Sheer logic obviates that Bowman’s ditching and land-clearing activities 

neither conveyed nor connected waters of the United States; therefore, EPA’s interpretation 

merits Seminole Rock deference. 

2. The Water Transfers Rule cannot logically be construed to define “addition.” 
 

The Water Transfers Rule did not define “addition,” but instead created a narrow 

exclusion from section 402 of the CWA.  The EPA stated, “[t]hrough today’s rule, [EPA] 

concludes that water transfers, as defined by the rule, do not require NPDES permits because 

they do not result in the ‘addition’ of a pollutant.”  73 Fed. Reg. 33,697, 33,699 (June 13, 2008).  

Since the EPA promulgated the rule, and the Eleventh Circuit subsequently upheld it, other 

courts have acknowledged the rule’s narrow application.  Friends of the Everglades v. S. Fla. 

Water Mgmt. Dist., 570 F.3d 1210 (11th Cir. 2009) (applying deference under Chevron U.S.A. 

Inc. v. Nat’l Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984)).  In West Virginia Highlands 

Conservancy v. Huffman, the state government’s argument that the Water Transfers Rule 

precluded regulating runoff from a mining site failed because the rule “only applies when 

pollutants are transferred from one navigable water to another . . . .  [T]he defendants were not 
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‘transferring’ pollutants; they were discharging them.  Any other construction would vitiate the 

[CWA].”  625 F.3d 159, 162, 167 (4th Cir. 2010).  In ONRC Action v. United States Bureau of 

Reclamation, another case upholding the rule, the court explained, “[t]he Water Transfers Rule . . 

. does not seek to define the types of discharges encompassed by a statutory provision; instead, it 

creates and permanently exempts an entirely new class of discharges from the NPDES system.”  

No. 97-3090-CL 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 118153, at *82 (D. Or. Jan. 17, 2012).  As the Eleventh 

Circuit noted in Friends of the Everglades, “[s]ometimes it is helpful to strip a legal question of 

the contentious policy interests attached to it and think about it in the abstract using a 

hypothetical.”  570 F.3d at 1228.  If an agency adopted a regulation stating that apples are not 

fruits, it would defy logic to infer therefrom that oranges are not fruits.   

3. Even if EPA’s rule defines “addition,” this definition cannot not reasonably apply 
to section 404 of the CWA. 
 

Although “[t]here is a presumption that identical words used in different parts of the same 

act are intended to have the same meaning,” this presumption “is not rigid and readily yields 

whenever there is such a variation in the connection in which the words are used as reasonably to 

warrant the conclusion that they employed in different parts of the act with different intent.”  

Gen. Dynamics Land Syst., Inc. v. Cline, 540 U.S. 581, 596 (2004) (citations omitted).  Congress 

delegated authority to the EPA to regulate pollutant discharges under the section 402 NPDES 

program and to the Corps to regulate discharges of dredged or fill material under section 404 of 

the CWA.  33 U.S.C. §§ 1342, 1344 (2012).  Given the separate and distinct nature of these 

programs, the agencies’ respective expertise, and the vastly different activities they regulate, 

“addition” cannot reasonably carry the same meaning under section 402 as it does under section 

404.  Uniform application would produce absurd results because it would “vitiate” the section 

404 program.  Huffman, 625 F.3d at 162, 167. 
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C. Using EPA’s “Outside World” Theory to Disqualify Bowman’s Unpermitted 
Ditching and Land-clearing Activities Subverts the Theory’s Limited Application to 
Section 402 of the CWA. 

 
 Courts have limited the “outside world” theory to the “very circumscribed facts upon 

which they are based.”  Greenfield Mills, Inc. v. Macklin, 361 F.3d 934, 948 (7th Cir. 2004).  

Two lone circuits have deferred to the EPA’s informal view that, with respect to dam releases 

and pumped hydro-electricity facilities, respectively, “addition” occurs only if the point source 

“physically introduces a pollutant into water from the outside world,” Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. 

Gorsuch, 693 F.2d 156, 175 (D.C. Cir. 1982); Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Consumers Power Co., 862 

F.2d 580, 581, 584-85 (6th Cir. 1988).  Although it is unnecessary to challenge the validity of 

EPA’s “outside world” theory at this juncture, it has been noted that the theory “do[es] not 

deserve broad deference of the sort accorded by the Gorsuch and Consumers Power courts.”  

Catskill Mountains Chapter of Trout Unltd. v. City of N.Y., 273 F.3d 481, 490 (2d Cir. 2001).  

After Gorsuch and Consumers Power, the Supreme Court held that informal agency 

interpretations are entitled to Skidmore deference, a less deferential standard than those applied 

to the dam cases.  United States v. Mead, 533 U.S. 218, 221 (2001) (citing Skidmore v. Swift Co., 

323 U.S. 134, 140 (1944); see Gorsuch, 693 F.2d at 183 (“[W]e emphasize the narrowness of our 

decision.  It is not our function to decide whether EPA’s interpretation of the term ‘discharge of a 

pollutant’ is the best one or even whether it is more reasonable than the Wildlife Federation’s 

interpretation.”); Consumers Power, 862 F.2d at 584 (applying the highly deferential Chevron 

standard) (citing Chevron, U.S.A. v. NRDC, 467 U.S. 837, 843 (1984)); see also M. Rhead 

Enion, Rethinking National Wildlife Federation v. Gorsuch:  The Case for NPDES Regulation of 

Dam Discharge, 38 ECOL. L.Q. 797 (2011).  

Viewed in light of subsequent limiting precedent and negative treatment, several key 
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facts preclude the “outside world” theory from applying to Bowman’s ditching and land-clearing 

activities.  First, the Gorsuch and Consumers Power courts deferred to EPA’s “series of informal 

policy statements and consistent litigation positions . . . over the years.”  Catskill, 273 F.3d at 

490.  By contrast, neither the EPA nor the Corps—in their formal or informal interpretations or 

in litigation—have applied the “outside world” theory to jurisdictional dredging and filling under 

section 404 of the CWA.  In fact, the agencies have consistently maintained the opposite:   

We do not believe that the analysis of the Gorsuch and Consumers 
Power decisions is controlling here.  These cases did not address 
what constitutes an addition of dredged material to waters of the 
United States.  In our view, it would not be reasonable to require 
that dredged material enter waters of the U.S. “from the outside 
world” since dredged material, by definition, is contained in the 
waters themselves.    

 
Clean Water Act Regulatory Programs, 58 Fed. Reg. 45,008, 45,010 (Aug. 25, 1993).  Moreover, 

six months after the EPA promulgated the Water Transfers Rule in 2008, the EPA and the Corps 

jointly promulgated a rule that reasserted CWA jurisdiction over “regulable redeposits” into 

wetlands, which further undercuts arguments for extending the “outside world” theory to section 

404.  Revisions to the Clean Water Act Regulatory Definition of “Discharge of Dredged 

Material”; Final Rule, 73 Fed. Reg. 79,642, 79,643 (Dec. 30, 2008) (to be codified at 33 C.F.R. § 

323; 40 C.F.R. § 232 (2002)).  The courts agree.  In Avoyelles, the Fifth Circuit held that 

“‘dredged’ material is by definition material that comes from the water itself.  A requirement that 

all pollutants must come from outside sources would effectively remove the dredge-and-fill 

provision from the statute.”  Avoyelles, 715 U.S. F.2d at 924 n.42.  In United States v. Bay-

Houston Towing Co., the court distinguished the landowner’s ditching activities from the facts in 

Consumers Power from because the latter “concern[ed] regulation of the passage of water under 

§ 402, not dredged or fill material under § 404.”  33 F.Supp. 2d 596, 606 n.10 (E.D. Mich. 1999).  
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Second, Gorsuch and Consumers Power also turned on the fact that the dams and hydro-

electricity facilities at issue were regulable by other means.  In Gorsuch, the court noted that 

dams were “nonpoint sources, control of which was specifically reserved to State and local 

governments through the section 208 process.”  693 F.2d at 176 (citing S. REP. NO. 95-370, at 8 

(1977), reprinted in 1977 U.S.C.C.A.N. 4326, 4334).  The Federal Energy Regulatory 

Commission had authority to regulate the hydro-electricity system at issue in Consumers Power.  

862 F.2d at 590.  By contrast, if the “outside world” theory applies to this case, Bowman’s 

unpermitted conduct “will go unnoticed and unaddressed,” because section 404 and its 

authorized state programs are the lone mechanisms for regulating dredging and filling in 

jurisdictional wetlands.  Id.; see 33 U.S.C. § 1344; 33 C.F.R. § 323. 

Finally, both Gorsuch and Consumers Power involved flowing “water that wound up 

where it would have gone anyway.”  Friends of the Everglades, 570 F.3d at 1221.  To the 

contrary, the stagnant wetland soil and living vegetation and trees in this case would have 

remained largely undisturbed absent Bowman’s unpermitted conduct.  (R. at 4.)  In sum, 

applying the already feeble “outside world” theory to this factually incongruous situation would 

impermissibly extend the theory and allow Bowman and others to destroy wetlands of the United 

States without consequence.   

CONCLUSION 

 This Court should hold that NUWF has organizational standing, but that it lacks subject 

matter jurisdiction over this case because Bowman’s violations are wholly in the past, not 

ongoing.  NUWF’s citizen suit should be further barred because NUDEP is diligently 

prosecuting Bowman in its own civil action.  Finally, this Court should hold that Bowman’s 

ditching and land-clearing activities violated section 404.   
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For the foregoing reasons, NUDEP respectfully requests that this Court affirm summary 

judgment on the issues of continuing violation and diligent prosecution, and reverse summary 

judgment on the issues of standing and CWA violations.  In the alternative, this Court should 

remand for further fact-finding in the district court. 

Although NUDEP respects that citizen suits are an integral part of the overall 

enforcement scheme, in this case, the diligent prosecution provision prevents unnecessary, 

duplicative litigation while violators bring themselves into compliance with the CWA.  NUDEP 

agrees with NUWF that the effectiveness and integrity of section 404 of the CWA relies on 

government authority to regulate dredging and filling activities within wetlands.  As a matter of 

justice and law, however, violators who come into compliance with the CWA by properly 

following government agency orders cannot be penalized for past or subsequent legal conduct.   

 
                 Respectfully Submitted 

  
_____________________ 

  
Counsel for New Union Department of Environmental Protection 


